IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 10 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.:2015-002171

Troy Stevenson.....Appellant

v.

State of South Carolina.....Respondent

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Aimee J. Zmroczek, Esq.
A.J.Z. Law Firm, LLC
2003 Lincoln Street (29201)
P.O. Box 11961
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 400-1918 (telephone)
(803) 403-8005 (fax)
aimee@ajzlawfirm@gmail.com
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court erred in its decision to deny Appellant's motion to dismiss the indictments after its previous ruling to grant the state's motion for mistrial, over the objection of the defendants when it was not supported by manifest necessity.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. *State v. Cooper*, 334 S.C. 540, 551, 514 S.E.2d 584, 590 (1999). The granting of a motion for mistrial is an extreme measure that should be taken only when the incident is so grievous the prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way. *State v. Beckham*, 334 S.C. 302, 310, 513 S.E.2d 606, 610 (1999). A mistrial should be granted only when absolutely necessary and a defendant must show both error and resulting prejudice to be entitled to a mistrial. *State v. Harris*, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 628 (2000). "A mistrial should only be granted in cases of manifest necessity and with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons." *State v. Patterson*, 337 S.C. 215, 227, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct.App.1999). "Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. 'It is not a mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of the specific difficulty facing the trial judge.'" *State v. Rowlands*, 343 S.C. 454, 457-58, 539 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct.App.2000) (quoting *Gilliam v. Foster*, 75 F.3d 881, 895 (4th Cir.1996)). The trial court should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial. *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Troy Stevenson was set for retrial November 2, 2015, on matters that were tried in June 2015, which trial ended in a mistrial. A motion for a mistrial is, by its very nature, both an allegation of error and allegation of prejudice sufficient to warrant a mistrial. The pending retrial creates an ongoing violation of the Fifth Amendment's Double Jeopardy Clause and the indictments should be dismissed with prejudice.

INTRODUCTION

On July 1, 2013, in the early morning hours Kelly Hunnewell was shot and killed by two perpetrators at her work on Tommy Circle in Richland County. Police responded within minutes of the shooting they secured and processed the scene and collected several videos and swabs for DNA analysis. Law enforcement has not linked any of this forensic evidence to Troy Stevenson. A swab from the front of a large metal spoon held by the victim and used as a defensive weapon against her attackers yielded a mixture of at least three individuals from which the convicted co-defendants, Lorenzo Young and Trenton Barnes cannot be excluded. Additionally, video from the incident location were obtained, reviewed, and released to the media. Troy Stevenson appears on that video for less than one second as he has maintained from the time of his arrest he was going to retrieve his little brother, convicted co-defendant Trenton Barnes. On July 2, 2013, an informant told law enforcement that someone named "Troy" was bragging about the crime. The informant later identified as Donald Moore provided the police with what they believed at the time to be credible information to generate a search warrant for the homes of Troy Stevenson (and Trenton Barnes) and Lorenzo Young.¹

¹ Donald Moore's credibility and competence have been called into question and will be Discussed later in the Motion.

On July 5, 2013, law enforcement executed the search warrants and Trenton Barnes, who was sixteen at the time, “voluntarily” went to Columbia Police Department and gave several statements where he implicated his brother Troy Stevenson as the shooter and identified himself as the “lookout.”² Law enforcement obtained an arrest warrant for Troy Stevenson for Murder, Kidnapping, Attempted Armed Robbery, Burglary 2nd degree, Criminal Conspiracy, and Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a violent crime. All six warrants were served on Troy Stevenson on July 5, 2013.³

On July 28, 2013, even though all three defendants waived their bond hearings⁴, a hearing waiving the same was heard in front of Judge Clifton Newman who stated that any defendant could request a bond hearing at a later date with proper notice and filing.⁵ The media was present and the victim’s family was present. Troy Stevenson was brought to the courthouse but returned to the detention center without appearing in front of the Judge at the request of counsel.⁶ Counsel filed a detailed discovery motion on July 15, 2013, and served the same on the solicitor’s office. For the next two months counsel continuously requested discovery and finally on September 10, 2013, counsel filed a motion to compel production of discovery which was heard on September 18, 2013. Judge Lee ordered that if discovery was not received by September 27, 2013, than Troy Stevenson would receive a personal recognizance bond. Discovery was received on September 27, 2013, at 4:00 p.m. Counsel continued to request items

² This term has been consistently used by law enforcement since releasing the video to the media this is not the term or a term ever created or generated by Trenton Barnes.

³ The State decided to proceed only on the Indictments of Murder, Attempted Armed Robbery, Kidnapping, and Burglary-Second degree-violent.

⁴ Stevenson signed and filed his on July 25, but had verbally advised undersigned counsel that he was waiving his right to have bond set at that time.

⁵ This case, as discussed in two different pending motions filed on the same date, has generated much publicity due to the fact that the victim was a single white woman and mother of four and that a co-defendant (Lorenzo Young) had requested a bond reduction for a previous pending case which was granted by Judge Lee earlier in 2013.

⁶ Counsel believes that this was simply a way to parade the defendant in front of the media and further political agendas dealing with alleged gang violence in the Columbia area.

and discovery and provide information to assist the State in the proper arrests and convictions of the perpetrators of this crime. A preliminary hearing was held on November 25, 2014, and it was learned that there was much discovery missing. The indictments were true billed on February 20, 2104, 442 days after Troy Stevenson's arrest. Counsel sent a detailed letter requesting specific items of discovery and requesting to meet with the lead investigator on March 5, 2014. Troy Stevenson provided another interview March 24, 2014. On October 10, 2014, counsel received notice for trial of Stevenson and his two co-defendants to begin on October 27, 2014. After several pre-trial hearings which Stevenson counsel was not notified nor had an opportunity to question any witnesses, the trial was continued. On November 4, 2014, counsel received a filed reciprocal Rule 5 which was filed on November 3, 2014. Counsel complied by producing over 100 pages and her experts video on November 5, 2014. Stevenson met with Investigator Cambo Streeter of the Fifth Circuit Solicitor's office to reiterate his testimony at which time his counsel inquired about an offer similar to a federal proffer prior to his testifying which was not extended and Stevenson did not testify at the trial which proceeded against the two co-defendants on four of the indictments on November 10, 2014, ending on November 19, 2014, 494 days after the arrests of the defendants. Stevenson did not testify which caused several procedural problems for the State but felt that he could not do so without some protection since he was still facing the six indictments and life in prison. On April 29, 2015, after no communication regarding an offer or a trial date, Stevenson filed a Motion for Bond. This hearing was held in front of Judge Gee on May 5, 2015, 169 days after the completion of the trial of the co-defendants and 671 days after Stevenson's arrest. Judge Gee denied bond but stated that if the case were not tried or disposed of within 90 days that Stevenson could refile his request for bond. On June 10, 2015, there was an additional status conference wherein Judge Hood set the June 15, 2015, date as the trial date.

Counsel immediately went back to her office and requested additional funding for her private investigator to re-serve and locate the witnesses for trial.⁷

On June 11, 2015, at 4:28 p.m. counsel received the first plea offer in this case which was relayed on June 12, 2015. Counsel has not had adequate time to prepare her case for trial even though it is a two year old case, as this Court knows it is high profile and there is voluminous discovery and new discovery being provided as late as June 11, 2015.

Several pre-trial motions were filed and argued some specifically addressing concerns with seating a fair and impartial jury. (Trial Tr. 30-50) The request for change of venue and request for attorney conducted voir dire was denied as well as several other motions and the trial began June 15, 2015. (Trial Tr. 50) After a lengthy jury selection and several motions trial was set to begin on June 16, 2015. The court conducted an extended voir dire of the panel because of the nature and publicity of the case. (Trial Tr. 50-161) There were additional pretrial motions argued after the jury was released and cautioned about keeping an open mind. (Trial Tr. 161)

The Appellant had initially decided to plead guilty under *North Carolina v. Alford* when court resumed July 16, 2015. (Trial Tr. 209) The Appellant changed his mind during the plea colloquy and the jury was sworn in on June 16, 2015. (Trial Tr. 220) The Trial Judge routinely questioned the jurors upon their return from breaks about any influences even stating, "Part of the foundation of our system is us believing and trusting in jurors that they will follow the judge's instructions and do what they are supposed to do." (Trial Tr. 573) On June 18, 2015, there was a note from a juror regarding potential contact with a possible family member. (Trial Tr. 657) The issue was addressed and resolved and the trial continued.

⁷ This is an additional basis for the continuance request as counsel has no more funding for these services and OID refuses to pay for services that have not been pre-approved. It should be noted that this and additional request for funding for the investigator have continuously been denied.

The case was given to the jury on June 22, 2015, at 4:19 p.m. (Trial Tr. 1245) The jury deliberated for just over an hour and sent a request for some specific evidence (a video compiled by the defense as well as the audio taped interviews between Troy Stevenson and Columbia Police Department agents. It was at that time that the Solicitor's office indicated that they had an issue with the alternate juror and there were discussions in chambers. At 5:24 p.m. the jurors were summoned to the court room and advised to stop deliberations. (Trial Tr. 1245)

The deliberating jurors were then questioned on the record individually in the presence of the Court, all trial counsel, the appellant, and the court reporter. (Trial Tr. 1245-1271) Each juror was questioned extensively and each stated that they could all be fair and impartial regardless of what the conduct and any statements of the alternate were. (Trial Tr. 1245-1271).

The court then allowed the State to place on the record their concerns with conduct "someone" in their office witnessed immediately after being released in regards to an alternate juror.⁸ It is unclear, unaddressed, and unexplained as to why the State chose to wait an hour before drawing this to the attention to the court. Trial Counsel for the Appellant was allowed to make arguments and Appellant's position clear (vehemently denying the Court grant the State's request for a mistrial) on the record including submitting case law. (Trial Tr. 1274-1275)

The assistant solicitors were advised in chambers that if the Judge granted the mistrial that jeopardy had attached. Senior assistance solicitor Campbell asked for a moment to consult some unknown party and then advised the Judge that a mistrial is how they wanted to proceed. Defense counsel vehemently objected stating that all jurors testified under oath they could be fair and impartial and that this was not a manifest necessity requiring a mistrial under the law. (Trial Tr. 1278) Trial counsel for Appellant requested a curative instruction be given which was not

⁸As of the date of this submission the names of the people who witnessed behavior, which is still unclear as to what the behavior was, have not been released nor have they allowed to have been questioned regarding what they saw.

even entertained by the court. (Trial Tr. 1289) The mistrial was granted on June 22, 2015. The case was placed on the docket for October 19, 2015, and counsel requested a different date since she is in federal trial that week. The date was set for November 2, 2015, and Mr. Stevenson consented even though he was told he had to waive any right to bond. On October 12, 2015, Trial counsel for Appellant filed and argued a motion to dismiss the indictments. Trial Counsel and the State argued their positions and submitted case law. The court denied the motion, an order of the same was filed October 15, 2015. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

Defendant's murder trial resulted in mistrial which was opposed by defendant and should not be retried because double jeopardy clause bars the second trial as no manifest necessity existed to grant mistrial over defendant's objections.

I. THE PENDING RETRIAL CREATES AN ONGOING VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT'S DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE AND THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DISMISSAL OF THE INDICTMENTS WITH PREJUDICE WAS IMPROPERLY DENIED BECAUSE JEOPARDY ATTACHED.

It is unconstitutional to try the case of these indictments. "It is a rule of general recognition that one is in jeopardy when a legal jury is sworn and impaneled to try him, upon a valid indictment, in a competent Court, unless the jury before reaching a verdict be discharged with the prisoner's consent, or upon some ground of legal necessity or the verdict, if rendered, be set aside according to law." *Ex Parte Prince*, 185 S.C. 150, 159, 193 S.E. 429, 433 (1937). Also see *State v. Bilton*, 156 S.C. 324, 153 S.E. 269 (1930) and *State v. Stephenson*, 54 S.C. 234, 32 S.E. 305 (1898). After jeopardy has attached, the termination of the trial without a verdict is equivalent to an acquittal and is a bar to a subsequent prosecution for the same offense. The termination has no such effect if it was consented to by the defendant, or was justified by

“manifest necessity.” The theory of former jeopardy presupposes the imposition of the adjudicatory gauntlet only once when one is accused of a crime. This guarantee consists of three separate constitutional safeguards: (1) protection from prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; (2) protection against prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and (3) protection from multiple prosecutions for the same offense after an improvidently granted mistrial. Trial court even goes as far as to rely on the denial of the motion as some sort of preemptive post-conviction relief protect, a basis which trial counsel rejects. (Hrg. Tr. 12) The safeguards derive their constitutional proportion through Article 1, Section 12 of the South Carolina Constitution and the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution made applicable to the states through the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Benton v. Maryland*, 395 U.S. 784, 89 S.Ct. 2056, 23 L.Ed.2d 707 (1969).

II. APPELLANT’S MURDER TRIAL RESULTED IN MISTRIAL WHICH WAS OPPOSED BY DEFENDANT AND SHOULD NOT BE RETRIED BECAUSE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE BARS THE SECOND TRIAL AS NO MANIFEST NECESSITY EXISTED TO GRANT MISTRIAL OVER DEFENDANT’S OBJECTIONS.

In 1824, in *United States v. Perez*, the Supreme Court recognized that “the law has invested courts of justice with the authority to discharge a jury from giving any verdict, whenever, in their opinion, taking all the circumstances into consideration, there is a manifest necessity for the act, or the ends of public justice would otherwise be defeated.” *United States v. Perez*, 22 U.S. 579, 9 Wheat. 579, 6 L. Ed. 165 (1824). The key term of art in this statement was “manifest necessity.” If no “manifest necessity” existed at the time the jury was discharged, reprosecution of the accused would violate the protection against double jeopardy. *Id.* ; *see also Simmons v. United States*, 142 U.S. 148, 35 L. Ed. 968, 12 S. Ct. 171 (1891); *Logan v. United*

States, 144 U.S. 263, 36 L. Ed. 429, 12 S. Ct. 617 (1892); *Thompson v. United States*, 155 U.S. 271, 39 L. Ed. 146, 15 S. Ct. 73 (1894).

A “manifest necessity” may be found however, notwithstanding the fact that the trial court did not invoke this phrase in granting the mistrial. In *Gori v. United States*, the Court manifested a strong predilection to sustain the decision of the trial judge in declaring a mistrial when done “in the sole interest of the defendant,” even when such was not the only or even the wisest alternative available to the court. *Gori v. United States*, 367 U.S. 364, 6 L. Ed. 2d 901, 81 S. Ct. 1523 (1961), reh’g denied, 368 U.S. 870, 7 L. Ed. 2d 70, 82 S. Ct. 25 (1961). The trial judge’s decision to grant the state’s motion for mistrial, over the objection of the defendants was not exercised in sound discretion, and reprosecution of the case is a violation of double jeopardy. *Arizona v. Washington*, 434 U.S. 497, 54 L.Ed2d 717, 98 S.Ct. 824 (1978), one of the leading cases on double jeopardy, requires that the record reflect that the trial judge exercised “sound discretion” in declaring a mistrial. 434 U.S. at 514. In *Arizona* both the prosecutor and the trial judge expressed their concern about the potential double jeopardy problem. *Id.* at 501, n.5. Among the various reasons propounded by the state to justify a finding of manifest necessity for declaration of the mistrial are the jury was tainted by the actions of this alternate juror. This is clearly not supported by the record. The record must reflect that the trial court considered all alternatives and exercised sound discretion in deciding the mistrial was required under the manifest necessity standard. Counsel asserts that once this record is reviewed, any Court will find that the trial judge did not exercise sound discretion in granting the mistrial. As the District Court found in *Gilliam v. Foster*, 75 F.3d at 881, 904 (4th Cir.1996), counsel is concerned that the trial judge may have acted “precipitately in response to the prosecutor’s request for a mistrial.” *Arizona v. Washington*, 434 U.S. at 515. Unlike the trial judge’s procedure approved

by the Supreme Court in *Arizona v. Washington*, the trial judge in this case did not “evinc[e] a concern for the possible double jeopardy consequences of an erroneous ruling.” *Id.* Indeed, there were several candid and informed discussions off the record in the Trial Judge’s chambers about Defendant’s constitutional rights, the record contains no indication that the trial judge was aware that the Defendant’s constitutional rights against double jeopardy might be implicated by his ruling. Counsel asserts that the state trial judge acted without any rational justification in granting a mistrial. *Gilliam v. Foster*, No. 95-2334, 1995 WL 444596 (4th Cir. July 28, 1995) (en banc).

A mistrial granted over the defendant’s objection prevents re prosecution of the defendants unless there was “manifest necessity” for the mistrial and protects the defendants from having to endure the process of more than one trial. *Arizona v. Washington*, 434 U.S. 497 (1978). The prosecution bears the burden of proving manifest necessity for the mistrial, and that burden is a “heavy one.” *Id.* at 505. While the trial judge’s determination in such circumstances “is entitled to special respect,” that deference is not absolute. *Id.* at 513-14. The record must reflect that the trial court’s decision to grant the mistrial “reflects the exercise of sound discretion.” *Arizona v. Washington*, 434 U.S. at 514. “A judge cannot find that manifest necessity requires declaration of a mistrial ‘until a scrupulous exercise of judicial discretion leads to the conclusion that the ends of public justice would not be served by a continuation of the proceedings.’ ” *United States v. Jorn*, 400 U.S. 470 at 485 (1971).

In *State v. Bilton*, supra, this Court cited and approved the following general authority: “The American cases hold generally that there must be a manifest necessity for the discharge of the jury and leave the Courts to determine in their discretion whether under all the circumstances of each case such necessity exists. When such necessity exists, a plea of former jeopardy will not

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