STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

MAR 10 2016

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TROY STEVENSON,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2015-002171

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 68383

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-0265

DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Circuit  
P.O. Box 192  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 576-1800

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

### **ARGUMENT**

**This appeal should be dismissed as interlocutory and not immediately appealable because no sentence has been imposed. Further, the trial court did not abuse its discretion to grant the motion for a mistrial based on manifest necessity when the record clearly showed: 1) the alternate juror made inappropriate comments early in the trial and attempted to influence other jurors; 2) the remaining jurors failed to report the misconduct and also discussed the evidence prematurely; and 3) the defendant's family attempted to intimidate the jury during their ingress and egress from the courthouse. Because manifest necessity supported the granting of the mistrial, jeopardy did not attach and the court properly denied Appellant's motion to dismiss the indictments before his re-trial.**

### **Introduction**

Appellant is not entitled to appeal the decision of the trial court to deny his motion to dismiss the indictments following the court's declaration of a mistrial because the decision is interlocutory and not immediately appealable. Even if this Court elects to decide the appeal on the merits, Appellant's contention the trial judge erred when it

refused to dismiss Appellant's indictments following the declaration of a mistrial must fail. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding a manifest necessity for a mistrial because of the jurors' misconduct. Further, because the jurors never reached a verdict, jeopardy did not attach to Appellant. In fact, trial counsel acknowledged Appellant would have cited her failure to request a mistrial in a post-conviction relief setting, had he been convicted. Given the misconduct of the majority of jurors on the panel, the trial court had no choice but to declare the mistrial for the protection of the State *and* Appellant.

**The Order Is Not Appealable Because a Final Sentence Has Not Been Imposed**

As a preliminary matter, Respondent has contemporaneously filed a Motion to Dismiss the appeal. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 (1976), a criminal defendant may not appeal a decision of the trial court until after sentence has been imposed. *State v. Miller*, 289 S.C. 426, 427, 346 S.E.2d 705, 706 (1986); *see also State v. Timmons*, 68 S.C. 258, 47 S.E. 140, 141 (1904) (The general rule is that a criminal defendant may not appeal "except from the final sentence imposed by the court.") In *State v. Clifford*, 335 S.C. 129, 515 S.E.2d 550 (Ct.App.1999), the Court of Appeals created an exception to this rule, permitting a criminal defendant to appeal a circuit court order remanding his case to magistrate court for further proceedings provided the issue is whether such proceedings would violate the defendant's double jeopardy rights. *See also State v. Gregorie*, 339 S.C. 2, 3, 528 S.E.2d 77, 78 (2000). In *Clifford*, however, the defendant's conviction in magistrate court was appealed to the circuit court. The circuit court reversed and remanded to the magistrate to take further evidence to make a new finding of guilt.

*Clifford* is distinct from the instant case because the defendant was actually convicted and the order of remand was essentially an order for a new trial.

In the case at hand, Appellant has not been convicted, and therefore the appeal is interlocutory. The jurors were interrupted in their deliberations before they reached a verdict. Thus, jeopardy did not attach. The proper avenue for appeal is at the conclusion of Appellant's re-trial.

### **Standard of Review**

"In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only" and is "bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous." *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5–6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001) (citation omitted). "The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court." *State v. Harris*, 382 S.C. 107, 117, 674 S.E.2d 532, 537 (Ct.App.2009). Our courts favor the exercise of wide discretion by the trial judge in determining the merits of such motion in each individual case. *State v. Howard*, 296 S.C. 481, 483, 374 S.E.2d 284, 285 (1988). The power of the trial court to declare a mistrial should be used with the greatest caution under urgent circumstances and for very plain and obvious reasons stated on the record by the trial court. *Id.* ("The trial court's decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.")

### **Jeopardy Did Not Attach**

The Double Jeopardy Clauses of the United States and South Carolina Constitutions prevent all citizens from being placed twice in jeopardy of life and liberty. *See* U.S. Const. amend. V ("No person shall be ... subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb ..."); S.C. Const. art. I, § 12 ("No person shall be

subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or liberty ...”). Accordingly, a defendant may not be (1) prosecuted for the same offense after acquittal, (2) prosecuted for the same offense after conviction, and (3) subjected to subsequent prosecution for the same offense after an improvidently granted mistrial. *State v. Kirby*, 269 S.C. 25, 27-28, 236 S.E.2d 33, 34 (1977).

Although jeopardy generally attaches when the jury is sworn and impaneled, circumstances exist in which the interests of justice are served by the discharge of the jury, even without the defendant’s consent. *State v. Rowlands*, 343 S.C. 454, 457, 539 S.E.2d 717, 718 (Ct.App.2000).

Unlike the situation in which the trial has ended in an acquittal or conviction, retrial is not automatically barred when a criminal proceeding is terminated without finally resolving the merits of the charges against the accused. Because of the variety of circumstances that may make it necessary to discharge a jury before a trial is concluded, and because those circumstances do not invariably create unfairness to the accused, his valued right to have the trial concluded by a particular tribunal is sometimes subordinate to the public interest in affording the prosecutor one full and fair opportunity to present his evidence to an impartial jury.

*Arizona v. Washington*, 434 U.S. 497, 50517 (1978). The court must consider “whether the mistrial was dictated by manifest necessity or the ends of public justice, the latter being defined as the public's interest in a fair trial designated to end in just judgment.” *State v. Prince*, 279 S.C. 30, 33, 301 S.E.2d 471, 472 (1983). “Manifest necessity” is not a standard that can be applied mechanically or without attention to the particular problem confronting the trial judge. *State v. Baum*, 355 S.C. 209, 214-15, 584 S.E.2d 419, 422 (Ct. App. 2003). Further, the court need only find a “high degree” of necessity in order to conclude that a mistrial is appropriate under the circumstances. *Id.* at 506. Whether a

mistrial is mandated by manifest necessity is a fact specific inquiry. *Rowlands*, 343 S.C. at 457, 539 S.E.2d at 719.

The prohibition against double jeopardy is intended to condemn the practice of the prosecution requesting a mistrial for the sole purpose of buttressing weakness in its evidence; the strictest of scrutiny is appropriate when the basis for a mistrial is the unavailability of critical prosecution evidence. *Arizona v. Washington*, 434 U.S. 497 (1978). Therefore, the application of the double jeopardy bar is dependent on a showing of the prosecutor's subjective intent to cause a mistrial in order to retry a case. *State v. Parker*, 391 S.C. 606, 707 S.E.2d 799 (2011) (The State introduced an unredacted graphic video of the crime scene, accused the defense attorney of unethical conduct in coaching witnesses, and implied to the jury that it was their community duty to convict the Defendant of murder.); see also *Bellew v. State*, 697 S.E.2d 249, 251 (Ga. Ct. App. 2010) ("Whether juror misconduct is so prejudicial as to require removal and a mistrial is a matter generally left to the trial court's discretion, and the absence of prosecutorial misconduct is a significant factor.") (citing *Cooke v. State*, 496 S.E.2d 337 (1998)); *Burleson v. State*, 384 S.E.2d 659, 661 (1989) (noting the significance that "no prosecutorial misconduct [was] involved").

Case law suggests jeopardy may attach when the prosecutor moves for the mistrial as a means of strategy—hoping for a second prosecutorial bite at the apple rather than losing the case through an acquittal. In this case, however, the facts do not warrant the conclusion the prosecution derived any benefit from the granting of the mistrial. On the contrary, at the time the misconduct came to light, the State had presented compelling evidence of Appellant's guilt. The State's decision to move for a mistrial following the

voir dire of the jury served the interests of justice because of the potential prejudice to both the State **and** the defense.

### **Manifest Necessity of the Mistrial**

A mistrial should not be granted except in cases of manifest necessity and ought to be granted with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons.” *State v. Wasson*, 299 S.C. 508, 386 S.E.2d 255 (1989), *cited in State v. Patterson*, 337 S.C. 215, 522 S.E.2d 845 (Ct. App. 1999) (noting trial judge should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial). “A mistrial should only be granted when ‘absolutely necessary’ and a defendant must show both error and resulting prejudice in order to be entitled to a mistrial.” *State v. Stanley*, 365 S.C. 24, 34, 615 S.E.2d 455, 460 (Ct. App. 2005) (citations omitted).

In the case *sub judice*, neither counsel nor witnesses for the State or the defense exhibited improper conduct. Instead, the trial court questioned the ability of the jury to be impartial because of juror misconduct, as well as intimidating behavior from Appellant’s family. In a criminal prosecution, the conduct of the jurors should be free from all extraneous or improper influences. *State v. Cooper*, 334 S.C. 540, 551, 514 S.E.2d 584, 590 (1999) (citing *State v. Kelly*, 331 S.C. 132, 502 S.E.2d 99 (1998)). Unless the misconduct affects the jury's impartiality, it is not such misconduct as will affect the verdict. *Id.* “A motion for a mistrial or a new trial because of alleged jury misconduct must be granted if the evidence of misconduct indicates that a fair and impartial trial could not be had under the circumstances.” *Summers v. State*, 831 A.2d 1134, 1141 (Md. 2003) (citations omitted). The right to an impartial jury cannot be compromised by even the hint of possible bias or prejudice that is not affirmatively rebutted. *Wardlaw v. State*,

971 A.2d 331, 338 (Md. Ct. App. 2009). Thus, when the mistrial is premised upon juror misconduct, the court must determine whether the jury's impartiality has been compromised.

In analyzing allegations of premature juror deliberations, "the trial court should conduct a hearing to ascertain if, in fact, such premature deliberations occurred, and if the deliberations were prejudicial. If requested by the moving party, the court may voir dire the jurors and, if practicable, 'tailor a cautionary instruction to correct the ascertained damage.'" *State v. Aldret*, 333 S.C. 307, 315, 509 S.E.2d 811, 815 (1999) (quoting *United States v. Resko*, 3 F.3d 684, 695 (3d Cir. 1993)). In determining whether outside influences have affected the jury, the court may consider: "(1) the number of jurors exposed, (2) the weight of the evidence properly before the jury, and (3) the likelihood that curative measures were effective in reducing the prejudice." *State v. Harris*, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 627 (2000).

Following a conference in chambers off the record between the Court and counsel, the judge opted to voir dire the jurors individually in chambers. (T. p. 1245.) At the conclusion of the questioning, the trial judge considered the arguments of both the State and counsel for the defense. (T. pp. 1274-1283.) Although the State argued for the mistrial, and the defense opposed the motion, the trial judge found the juror misconduct "pervasive." (T. p. 1284.) Judge Hood cited three principle reasons for the necessity of granting the motion for mistrial: the misconduct of the alternate juror, the misconduct of the entire jury; and the misconduct of the defendant's family. (T. pp. 1285-1289.)

The trial court noted the jury was instructed in the opening charge they were not allowed to discuss any aspect of the case with each other or anyone else. (T. p. 1285.)

However, early in the trial, the alternate juror said, aloud and in front of the other jurors, “This is ridiculous, and I’ve already made up my mind.” (T. p. 1288.) That same alternate whispered to another juror that the defendant was not guilty, and “blacks should stick together,” clearly in an effort to improperly influence another juror to acquit the defendant. (T. p. 1288.) The alternate juror’s misconduct alone was sufficient to justify the granting of the mistrial.

In light of the actions of the alternate juror, however, the impartiality of the remaining jurors who failed to report her misconduct was compromised. Only upon voir dire did the remaining jurors admit they had overheard the alternate’s statements, and worse, in numerous instances discussed the evidence prematurely themselves. One juror stated, “he was scary,” in response to evidence presented, and another said, “it’s about to get real,” when the videos of the shooting were played in court. Another juror indicated, upon questioning by the judge, she was “sure trying to be fair,” and then laughed. (T. p. 1288.) The questioning of the jurors revealed the majority of the jury completely disregarded the court’s instruction to refrain from discussing the case.

Finally, on Wednesday, June 17, 2015, approximately the middle of the trial, the jury informed the court that a member of the defendant’s family approached a juror and said something similar to, “Have a good night, juror.” (T. p. 1285.) The judge also learned the defendant’s family and acquaintances were creating a funnel at the bottom of the stairs through which the jury would have to pass in order to leave the building. (T. p. 1285.) In an effort to remediate any influence or intimidation to the jury, the court arranged an alternative entrance and exit from the courthouse and assigned deputies to escort the jurors to their cars. (T. p. 1286.) Again, these actions alone might have resulted

in manifest necessity for a mistrial, but the cumulative effect of the misconduct in all three areas clearly compromised the integrity of the trial. Certainly the family's attempt to intimidate the jurors could have influenced the jury in either direction, but Appellant should not be given the benefit of attaching jeopardy to his trial when his own family is partially responsible for the granting of the mistrial.

Other jurisdictions have refused to attach jeopardy to a defendant in a trial when, in the midst of deliberation, the judge granted a mistrial because of juror misconduct. The Georgia Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's declaration of mistrial in codefendants' prosecution, finding retrial on the same charges did not violate codefendants' constitutional guarantee against double jeopardy. *See Pererz v. State*, 596 S.E.2d 191, 192 (2004). In *Perez*, the alternate reported the misconduct while jury was having lunch at a nearby restaurant. The alternate saw the family of one of the defendants enter the restaurant. The alternate heard one of the other jurors say to the other jurors, "Now here's our chance to make five thousand dollars." *Id.* The alternate reported to the court that, shortly thereafter, one of the family members walked past their table to go to the restroom, and the juror who made the improper remark jumped up suddenly and followed the family member into the restroom. *Id.* The appellate court found no abuse of discretion, stating:

"A trial judge has acted within his sound discretion in rejecting possible alternatives and in granting a mistrial, if reasonable judges could differ about the proper disposition, even though in a strict, literal sense, the mistrial is not necessary. This great deference means that the availability of another alternative does not without more render a mistrial order an abuse of sound discretion. Deference to the judge's sound discretion also precludes a reviewing court from assuming, in the absence of record evidence, that the trial judge deprived a defendant of constitutional rights."

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